FILED Court of Appeals Division II Supreme Costate of Washington

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/17/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

THE SUPREME COUR 10(16/2019 4:40 PM) F WASHINGTON

97775-5

HEALTH PROS NW, INC., a Washington Corporation,
APPELLANT,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE, AND ITS DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, RESPONDENTS.

APPELLANT HEALTH PROS NW, INC.'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

OWENS DAVIES, P.S.
Matthew B. Edwards
1115 West Bay Drive, Suite 302
Olympia, Washington 98502
(360) 943-8320
WSBA No. 18332

Question Presented

Has the Court of Appeals correctly interpreted RCW 42.56.550(2) as authorizing court review only of the timeliness of the agency's estimate of when it will produce its *initial* installment of records in response to a Public Records Act request? Or, consistent with the Public Records Act's

fundamental purpose of ensuring that agencies provide broad and prompt responses to records requests, should RCW 42.56.550(2) be interpreted as requiring agencies to provide an estimate of when they expect to *fully* respond to the request, and as authorizing courts to review the reasonableness of that estimate?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Request for records and response.

On February 10, 2017, Health Pros submitted a public records request to the agency. CP 14-18. Health Pros sought records related to the agency's performance of a contract the agency had entered into with Health Pros. *Id*.

B. First installment.

On April 19, 2017, the agency in fact provided Health Pros with a first installment of 673 pages of records. CP 35. Although asked to do so, the agency refused to provide an estimate of when it expected to fully respond to Health Pros' request. CP 31.

C. Complaint.

Health Pros filed this lawsuit, invoking RCW 42.56.550(2), which provides:

Upon the motion of any person who believes that an agency has not made a reasonable estimate of the time that the agency requires to respond to a public record request, the superior court in the county in which a record is maintained may require the responsible agency to show that the estimate it provided is reasonable. The burden of proof shall be on the agency to show that the estimate it provided is reasonable.

CP 7.

In discovery, Health Pros again asked the agency to provide an estimate of when it expected to fully respond to the records request. The Agency again refused to provide such an estimate. CP 61.

D. Additional installments.

After Health Pros filed its complaint, the agency continued to produce installments of records in response to Health Pros' Public Records Act request. On May 22, 2017, Health Pros received a second installment of 1,633 pages of records. CP 247. On July 3, 2017, Health Pros received a third installment of 9,119 pages of records. *Id.* On August 22, 2017, Health Pros received a fourth installment of 4,306 pages of records. *Id.* Therefore, in the seven months between its receipt of the request and the date of the trial court hearing, the agency reviewed and produced 15,531 pages of responsive records. CP 221.

E. Trial court proceedings.

Before the trial court, the agency continued categorically to refuse to provide any estimate of when it expected to fully respond to Health Pros' public records request. CP 209. However, the agency admitted that it had *at least* 350,000 additional pages of records to review and produce before it fully responded to Health Pros' request. CP 221.

Therefore, assuming the agency continues to review and produce records at the pace of approximately 15,000 pages every six months, it will take the agency until at least 2029 to fully respond to Health Pros' public records request.³ CP 233.

After a hearing, the trial court entered the following declaratory judgment:

3. The Court DECLARES that RCW 42.56.520(3),⁴ as construed by the Court of Appeals in *Hobbs v. State*, 183 Wn.App. 925, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014) only requires an agency to provide an estimate of when it will produce its *first* installment of records responsive to the public records request, and does not require the agency to produce an estimate of when it will "finish" producing records responsive to such a request, such that the Court has no jurisdiction to compel the agency to provide such an estimate.

CP 251. Health Pros timely appealed.

Division II of the Court of Appeals affirmed in a published decision. Appendix A. Division II held that RCW 42.56.550(2) empowered courts only to review the agency's estimate of when it would produce its *initial* installment of records. Slip Opinion at p. 15. Division

³ The agency has since continued to produce records in regular installments but at a pace consistent with the agency not fully responding to Health Pros' Public Records Act request until approximately 2029.

⁴ Now RCW 42.56.520(1)(c).

II held that the Act did not authorize courts to review the reasonableness of the time the agency intended to take to *fully* respond to the records request. *Id*.

Health Pros now timely petitions this Court for review.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Public Records Act requires agencies to promptly disclose public records.

The Public Records Act requires agencies to promptly disclose public records. The Act states: "[A]gencies shall, upon request for identifiable public records, **make them promptly available** to any person.

..." RCW 42.56.080 (emphasis added). The Act requires agencies to "adopt and enforce reasonable rules and regulations . . . ," which "shall provide for . . . the most timely possible action on requests for information." RCW 42.56.100 (emphasis added). The Act directs that: "Responses to requests for public records shall be made **promptly** by agencies . . . " RCW 42.56.520 (emphasis added).

The Act requires agencies to normally produce records in response to a Public Records Act request within five business days of receiving the request. RCW 42.56.520. In the alternative, the Act permits an agency to produce records in installments. RCW 42.56.080. The Act requires that, in every case, an agency receiving a Public Records Act request must, within five business days, acknowledge that the agency has received the

request and provide "a reasonable estimate of the time that the agency will require to respond to the request." RCW 42.56.520(3) (emphasis added).

An agency is not entitled to justify its less-than-prompt response by asserting that it would be inconvenient or difficult for it to provide a prompter response:

It has long been recognized that administrative inconvenience or difficulty does not excuse strict compliance with public disclosure obligations.

Gendler v. Batiste, 174 Wn.2d 244, 274 P.3d 346 (2012), citing Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe, 90 Wn.2d 123, 131-32, 580 P.2d 246 (1978).

B. The Act authorizes judicial review of agency responses to Public Records Act requests in order to ensure that agencies promptly disclose records.

The Act authorizes judicial review of the reasonableness of the estimate the agency provides of the time that the agency requires to respond to public records requests:

Upon the motion of any person who believes that an agency has not made a reasonable estimate of the time that the agency requires to respond to a public record request, the superior court in the county in which the record is maintained may require the responsible agency to show that the estimate it provided is reasonable. The burden of proof shall be on the agency to show that the estimate it provided is reasonable.

RCW 42.56.550(2).

Up until 2014, although no published court decision had squarely addressed the issue, this statute was understood to require the agency to provide an estimate of when it expected to *fully* respond to the records request, and to provide superior courts with jurisdiction to review that estimate. See former WAC 44-14-04003(4) (Attorney General's Model Rules on Public Disclosure provided for agencies to provide a reasonable estimate of the time the agency will require to *fully* respond). See also *Public Records Act Deskbook: Washington Public Disclosure and Open Public Meeting Laws* at §6.5 at p. 6-22 (2d ed., 2014) (stating that agencies must provide an estimate of the reasonable time required to complete its response to a Public Records Act request, including when a request is being answered in installments).

Once an agency has "fully responded,"⁵ the Act further authorizes judicial review the substance of that response:

Upon the motion of any person having been denied an opportunity to inspect or copy a public record by an agency, the superior court in the county in which a record is maintained may require the responsible agency to show cause why it has refused to allow inspection or copying of a specific public record or class of records. The burden of proof shall be on the agency to establish that refusal to permit public inspection and copying is in accordance with a statute that exempts or prohibits disclosure in whole or in part of specific information or records.

⁵ Doe v. Pierce County, 7 Wn.App.2d 157, 196, ¶100, 433 P.3d 838 (2019); Doe v. Benton County, 200 Wn.App. 781, 789, ¶21, 403 P.3d 861 (2017); Hobbs v. State, 183 Wn.App. 925, 936-37, ¶22-24, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014).

RCW 42.56.550(1).

As applied, prior to 2014, these provisions worked in tandem. RCW 42.56.550(2) authorized courts to review the reasonableness of the time the agency estimated it would take to produce all the records it intended to produce. RCW 42.56.550(1) empowered courts, once the agency had produced all the records it intended to produce, to review the agency's response to ensure that the agency had in fact properly searched for and produced all responsive records, had produced them in proper format, had not improperly redacted records or portions of records, and the like. In order to fulfill the Act's underlying purpose of ensuring broad and prompt access to public records, the Act conferred full authority on the courts to review all phases of an agency's response to a records request.

C. <u>In Hobbs v. State</u>, 183 Wn.App. 925, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014), Division II held that RCW 42.56.520(3) only requires an agency to provide an estimate of when the agency intends to produce its *initial* installment of records.

This changed in 2014. In *Hobbs v. State*, 183 Wn.App. 925, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014), Division II held that RCW 42.56.520(3) only required an agency to provide an estimate of when the agency intended to produce its *initial* installment of records.

In *Hobbs*, a requestor filed suit just two days after the agency produced its first installment of records. 183 Wn.App. at 930, ¶4 and

footnote 3. The requestor objected to the form in which the agency had produced this first installment of documents and asked the court to review the propriety of redactions. *Id.* at 932, ¶12. The requestor then repeatedly amended its complaint to allege additional similar claims as the state auditor's office continued to produce additional installments of records. *Id.* at 932-34, ¶12-18. After the agency had in fact produced all records responsive to the request, the requestor in *Hobbs* then asserted that the agency had failed to provide a proper initial response to his public records request because its response did not contain any estimate of the date the agency proposed to fully respond to the request. *Id.* at 933, ¶4.

In *Hobbs*, Division II held that the requestor's lawsuit had been filed prematurely. *Id.* at 935, ¶22-24. The Court held that no claim for relief lies under RCW 42.56.550(1) until an agency has taken "final agency action" by producing <u>all</u> records the agency intends to produce in response to a Public Records Act request. *Id*.

With respect to the requestor's challenge to the agency's failure to include an estimated response date—a challenge first raised by the requestor after the agency had finished producing all responsive records—Division II framed the issue presented to it as follows:

We must, therefore, determine whether RCW 42.56.520 requires an agency to respond to a public records request by providing a reasonable estimate of when the agency will be

able to provide the *completed* response to the request, or whether it is sufficient for the initial response to include only a reasonable estimate of the time it will take the agency to produce the first installment of responsive records.

183 Wn.App. at 942, ¶35.

Division II interpreted RCW 42.56.520(3) as only requiring an agency to provide an estimate of when it will produce its *initial* installment of records, and that an agency had no obligation to provide an estimate of when it would *fully* respond by producing all responsive records:

When interpreting a statute, "we 'must not add words where the legislature has chosen not to include them." Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n, 169 Wn.2d 516, 526, 243 P.3d 1283 (2010) (quoting Rest. Dev., Inc. v. Cananwill, Inc., 150 Wn.2d 674, 682, 80 P.3d 598 (2003)). Accordingly, we will not interpret RCW 42.56.520 to require agencies to provide an estimate of when it will fully respond to a public records request when the legislature has declined to include such language in the statute.

183 Wn.App. at 942-43, ¶36-37.

The *Hobbs* court's interpretation of RCW 42.56.520(3) was deficient in four respects. First, the court in *Hobbs* did not exhibit any awareness that it was adopting an interpretation of RCW 42.56.520(3) that was inconsistent with the way that the Attorney General, in his model rules, the authors of the Washington Public Records Act Deskbook, or the courts in general had until then interpreted the language of the statute.

Second, Division II in *Hobbs* ignored the primary goal of statutory construction: to construe the statute's language so that it comports with and furthers the purpose underlying the statute. See, e.g., *Cockle v. Dept. of Labor & Industries*, 142 Wn.2d 801, 16 P.3d 583 (2001). The fundamental purpose underlying the Public Records Act is to ensure that agencies provide broad and prompt responses to requests for public records.⁶

Interpreting this statute as requiring an agency to provide some estimate of when the agency expects to fully respond to a public records request—in the way the statute had been consistently interpreted up to Division II's decision in *Hobbs*—furthered this purpose. This construction allows courts to supervise an agency to ensure it acts reasonably promptly. The construction of the statute which the *Hobbs* court adopted invites an agency to unreasonably delay providing its full response.

Third, the court in *Hobbs* itself engaged in exactly the same kind of improper statutory interpretation as that for which it condemned the requestor. The court interpreted RCW 42.56.520 as if it contained the

⁶ Gendler v. Batiste, 174 Wn.2d 244, 251-52, 274 P.3d 346 (2012); Bainbridge Island Police Guild v. City of Puyallup, 172 Wn.2d 398, 407-08, 259 P.3d 190 (2011); Burt v. State Department of Corrections, 168 Wn.2d 828, 832, 835, 231 P.3d 191 (2010); Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims, 152 Wn.2d 421, 429-30, 98 P.3d 463 (2004); Newman v. King County, 133 Wn.2d 565, 570-71, 947 P.2d 217 (1997); Amren v. City of Kalama, 131 Wn.2d 25, 31, 929 P.2d 389 (1997); Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. University of Washington (PAWS II), 125 Wn.2d 243, 251, 884 P.2d 592 (1994); Brouillet v. Cowles Publ'g Company, 114 Wn.2d 788, 793, 791 P.2d 526 (1990).

word "initial" before the phrase "response to the request" rather than the word "completed."

Division II offered no principled reason for inserting the former word into the statute, rather than the latter. Purely as a matter of grammar, the more natural construction of the statute's language is as referring to *all* of what is described—i.e., as requiring an agency to produce an estimate of when it will provide its full response to a records request—rather than a small fraction of what is described.

Finally, Division II in *Hobbs* interpreted RCW 42.56.520 without displaying any awareness that the Act employs identical language in RCW 42.56.550(2)—the section providing for judicial review. Division II thus acted in *Hobbs* without exhibiting the slightest understanding that it potentially was severely constricting the scope of judicial review of agency action in a way fundamentally inconsistent with the underlying purpose of the Act.

D. Now, Division II squarely holds that the Act permits judicial review only of the timeliness of an agency's *initial* response, and prohibits courts from reviewing an agency's decision to take 12 years or more to *fully* respond to a public records request.

Division II in this case has now taken that next step—it has prohibited such judicial review.

In this case, the agency on three separate occasions squarely refused to provide an estimate of when it intended to fully respond to Health Pros' records request. CP 31, 61, 209. Health Pros, pointing out that the agency was responding at a pace at which it would not fully respond to Health Pros' records request **for 12 years or more**, invoked RCW 42.56.550(2), asked the superior court to compel the agency to provide such an estimate, and asked the superior court to review the reasonableness of that estimate under this statute. CP 233.

In response, Division II, in its decision, refused even to acknowledge that the agency was producing records at a pace which demonstrated it would take 12 years or more to fully respond to Health Pros' request, much less address whether taking 12 years to respond to a records request would be reasonable. Instead, Division II squarely held that, pursuant to RCW 42.56.550(2), courts **only** have the authority to review the timeliness of the agency's estimate of when it will produce its *initial* installment of records. Slip Opinion at p. 15-16.

Making each of the four arguments previously described, Health Pros squarely asked Division II to reconsider that portion of its decision in *Hobbs* interpreting RCW 42.56.530(3) as only requiring an agency to provide an estimate of when it will produce its initial installment of records. Division II refused.

First, while now acknowledging the construction of this statute that had historically been placed upon it pursuant to the Attorney General's Model Rules and the Washington Public Records Act Deskbook, Division II pointed to recent updates to the Attorney General's Model Rules. Slip Opinion at p. 10-12. Division II ignored the fact that Attorney General had updated his model rules simply to describe, rather than endorse, the construction Division II had placed on this statute. See WSR 18-06-051 (noting purpose of update to rules is to "reflect developments in . . . case law.").

Second, Division II refused to acknowledge that its primary function in interpreting this statute should have been to further the Act's underlying purpose of ensuring agencies promptly produce records. Division II, citing only to its prior decision in *Hobbs*, instead held that "The purpose of the PRA is best served by communication between agencies and requestors." Slip Opinion at p. 12-13. Even if that were a primary purpose of the Act (and it is not), Health Pros had "communicated." Health Pros repeatedly asked the agency to provide an estimate of when it would fully respond to Health Pros' request, and the agency repeatedly refused. Division II categorically refused to acknowledge that by withdrawing judicial review, it was empowering agencies arbitrarily to delay responding to a public records request for

over a decade, and thereby *de facto* deny the request in a way utterly inconsistent with the Act.

Third, Division II refused to acknowledge that in construing RCW 42.56.520, it had itself effectively added the word "initial" to the statute. Slip Opinion at p. 8-9.

Finally, Division II refused meaningfully to acknowledge that by limiting judicial review pursuant to RCW 42.56.550(2) only to the timeliness of the agency's initial response, Division II would be creating a gap in the judiciary's ability to review agency action. Slip Opinion at p. 13-16. By limiting the scope of judicial review under the former statute to only the agency's estimate of when it would produce its *initial* installment of records responsive to a request, Division II deprived the superior courts of **any ability** to review the pace at which agencies *fully* respond to public records requests.

Unless reversed, Division II's construction of this statute will empower agencies to arbitrarily delay—and thus *de facto* deny—public records requests, exactly as this agency is doing to Health Pros' request. The agency is producing records at a pace at which it will take 12 years or more to respond, when the records Health Pros requested will no longer have meaning. Division II's decision provides records requestors with no means at all to obtain judicial review of such arbitrary agency delay.

Division II offered two wholly unconvincing explanations of why its decision would not entirely preclude judicial review. First, Division II suggested that RCW 42.56.550(2) authorizes the superior court to review not merely the agency's estimate of the time that it will require to produce its initial installment of records, but also the agency's estimate of the time it will require to produce *each* subsequent installment of records. Slip Opinion at p. 15 and fn. 4.

This "interpretation" fails for three reasons. First, by its plain language, RCW 42.56.550(2) provides for one review, not a potentially endless series of mini-reviews.

Second, Division II based this "interpretation" of the statute solely upon the agency's alleged concession—a concession unlikely to be repeated in future cases.

Finally, this "interpretation" misses the point. To interpret the statute in this way would only permit a court to examine whether each particular installment of records is being produced in a timely manner. Courts would still not be authorized to look at the big picture. They would still lack the power to examine and review the reasonableness of the time an agency proposes to take to *fully* respond to any records request.

In addition, Division II suggested that RCW 42.56.550(2) could be "interpreted" to mean that "the court is . . . to review the *diligence* with

which the agency is producing records in response to a public records request." Slip Opinion at p. 15 (emphasis added).

Again, this "interpretation" is not rooted in the actual language of the Act. Compare Hobbs, 183 Wn.2d at 942, ¶36 ("[W]e must not add words where the Legislature has chosen not to include them."). The Act in general, and RCW 42.56.550(2) in particular, requires **prompt** disclosure. The Act does not employ the word "diligence." Nothing in the Act authorizes an agency to produce all requested records less than "promptly" on the grounds that the agency is, supposedly, acting "diligently."

Also, Division II once again based this proposed "interpretation" upon the concession of the agency party to this case. Slip Opinion at p. 15. Such a concession is unlikely to be repeated in future cases.

Finally, the Act does not authorize an agency, by asserting claims of "diligence," to effectively deny a public records request by stringing out the production of records over the course of 12 years. To the best of Health Pros' knowledge, no Washington court has ever approved as "prompt" an agency response that took more than two years to fully complete. In this case, well over two years have already passed since Health Pros submitted its public records request, and the agency is responding at a pace at which the agency will take **at least 10 additional**

years to fully respond. As a matter of law, such a response is neither "prompt" nor "diligent."

In sum, this Court should accept review of, and reverse, Division II's interpretation of RCW 42.56.550(2) on the grounds that it represents an unwarranted change in what had been settled law, departs from the statutory language, and—most importantly—is fundamentally inconsistent with the purpose of ensuring the prompt production of public records that underlies the Act. The Court should hold that the Act grants courts the authority to supervise the pace at which agencies **fully** respond to records requests.

V. CONCLUSION

The Public Records Act requires agencies to promptly respond to records requests. Division II's decision in this case invites agencies to refuse to promptly respond to records requests and provides for no judicial review of an agency's refusal to act promptly in a manner utterly inconsistent with the Act. Therefore, this case presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. The Court should accept review of, and reverse, the Court of Appeals decision.

OWENS DAYTES, P.S.

Matthew B. Edwards, WSBA No. 18332 Attorney for Appellant Health Pros NW, Inc.