FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/114/2019 4:47 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97775-5

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HEALTH PROS NORTHWEST, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON et al.,

Respondents.

### THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

TIMOTHY J. FEULNER WSBA #45396 Assistant Attorney General Corrections Division P.O. Box 40116 Olympia, WA 98504 (360) 586-1445

##

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court Should Again Deny Review of HPNW's Argument That the PRA Requires an Agency to Provide an Estimate of When the Agency Will Completely Respond to a Request

HPNW asks the Court to review an interpretation of the PRA that has been consistently rejected by the Court of Appeals and to which the Legislature has acquiesced. Contrary to HPNW's argument, the Court of Appeals' decisions—starting in 2014 with *Hobbs v. State*, 183 Wn. App. 925, 939-40, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014)—did not significantly change the PRA landscape by rejecting a requirement that agencies must provide an estimated date by which they will complete their response to a request. Furthermore, although HPNW argues that the Court of Appeals only permitted review of the timeliness of the agency's initial response, this statement mischaracterizes the Court of Appeals' decision. In fact, the Court of Appeals explicitly stated that the PRA "did not limit a court to reviewing only an agency's initial estimate." Appendix A, Slip Op., at 15. Thus, the Court should decline to accept review on the issue raised by HPNW.

# 1. HPNW's Argument Has Been Rejected by Every Appellate Court to Have Addressed the Issue

HPNW argues that the PRA requires agencies "to provide an estimate of when they expect to *fully* respond to the request." Petition, at 4 (emphasis in original). The Court of Appeals has repeatedly recognized that RCW 42.56.520 does not impose such a requirement. *See* Appendix A, Slip Op., at 6; *Hikel v. City of Lynnwood*, 197 Wn. App. 366, 372-76, 389 P.3d 677 (2016); *Hobbs v. State*, 183 Wn. App. 925, 939-40, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014). After *Hobbs* and *Hikel*, the Legislature has not amended the statute to impose such a requirement, even though it did react to another aspect of the *Hikel* decision by amending RCW 42.56.520 to reject the conclusion that agencies violate the PRA by seeking clarification in a five-day response. *See* Laws of 2017, ch. 303, § 3. This legislative acquiescence further supports the Court of Appeals decision here. *See City of Fed. Way v. Koenig*, 167 Wn.2d 341, 348, 217 P.3d 1172 (2009).

Although courts have declined to create a requirement that an agency must provide an estimate of when it is going to complete its response to a given request, courts have also consistently recognized that a requester can nevertheless challenge the timeliness of an agency's response. When a requester disagrees with an agency's timelines, the requester is able to go to court to require the agency to prove that it is responding in a reasonably

prompt manner to a request. RCW 42.56.550(2); see also Rufin v. City of Seattle, 199 Wn. App. 348, 357-58, 398 P.3d 1237 (2017) (reviewing reasonableness of agency response); Forbes v. City of Gold Bar, 171 Wn. App. 857, 859, 288 P.3d 384 (2012) (same). In this case, the trial court explicitly found that the Department was acting diligently in responding to the request. CP 249.

Contrary to HPNW's argument that the plain language supports its argument, HPNW's interpretation adds words to the statutory language. HPNW's argument conflates the words "respond" and "fully respond." One way to illustrate why HPNW's interpretative gloss is inconsistent with the plain meaning of the word "respond" is to ask this question: Has the Department responded to HPNW's request? The answer to that question is that it clearly has. But if someone wanted to know if the Department has completed its response to HPNW's request, then that person would need to ask a different question, i.e. has the Department completed it response or fully responded to the request?

HPNW argues that the Court of Appeals' decisions that have rejected its argument represented "an unwarranted change in what had been settled law." Petition, at 20. However, HPNW does not cite a single case that has adopted its interpretation of the PRA or supports its argument. Rather, HPNW relies entirely upon a WSBA Deskbook and model rules

promulgated by the Attorney General's Office. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that neither the Deskbook nor the non-binding Model Rules could change the plain statutory language. Therefore, contrary to HPNW's arguments, the Court of Appeals did not change settled law when it decided *Hobbs* in 2014. And in following *Hobbs*, the Court of Appeals in this case certainly did not change settled law.

HPNW's argument that the Court of Appeals' interpretation of the plain statutory language has undermined the PRA is also unavailing. HPNW has pointed to no evidence that the Court of Appeals' consistent interpretation of the PRA since 2014 has resulted in untoward consequences. In light of the practical realities of handling requests, the PRA is best served by communication between the agency and the requester. When an agency receives a large request, it has no way to accurately and reliably predict an estimated "completion" date in five business days and any such estimate would be completely speculative. HPNW recognizes that any initial estimate is speculative and subject to revision. HPNW's Opening Brief, at 20 n.9. In fact, when pressed in the Court of Appeals on what would be a reasonable time for responding to its own request, HPNW acknowledged that it did not have an answer to that question. Wash. Court of Appeals oral argument, *Health Pros Northwest, Inc. v. State of Washington*, No. 52135-1-II (June 24, 2019), at 8 min., 18

sec.-30 sec. Rather than coming up with a speculative date that needs to be revised repeatedly, an agency complies with the spirit and statutory requirements of the PRA by letting the requester know when the agency will respond further to the request. Therefore, because the Court of Appeals' consistent interpretation of the PRA did not upset settled law or undermine the PRA, this issue is not an issue of substantial public interest.

# 2. The Court of Appeals' Opinion Does Not Prohibit Judicial Review after an Agency's First Installment

Throughout this litigation, the Department has agreed that a court has the ability to review the entirety of an agency's response to a public records request to ensure that the agency is responding within a reasonable timeframe. This concession is not a litigation strategy unlikely to be repeated, as HPNW argues, but is instead an accurate reflection of the overwhelming appellate authority that recognizes a court's ability to conduct such a review. See, e.g., Andrews v. Wash. State Patrol, 183 Wn. App. 644, 653-54, 334 P.3d 94 (2014). In this very case, the trial court conducted such a review and found that the Department was acting diligently in response to HPNW's request. CP 249. HPNW has never challenged that finding in any stage of its appeals. Consistent with the review conducted by the trial court, the Court of Appeals recognized that "[t]he plain language of former RCW 42.56.550(2) did not limit a court to

reviewing only an agency's initial estimate." Appendix A, Slip Op., at 15. In other words, the Court of Appeals, the trial court, the Department, and prior appellate decisions all agree that a trial court can review the reasonableness of an agency's entire response under RCW 42.56.550(2). Review of an issue on which there is no disagreement does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

HPNW's petition, however, claims that the Court of Appeals actually prohibited judicial review of anything beyond an agency's initial response. Petition, at 14. HPNW's arguments are divorced from the facts of this case because the trial court conducted a review of the agency's response through the time of the hearing in the trial court. HPNW has not appealed that portion of the trial court's decision.<sup>2</sup> Although HPNW claims that RCW 42.56.550(2) only allows for "one review" of the agency's timeframes,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> HPNW has repeatedly asserted that the Department is going to take twelve years to produce all the records. The Department does not adopt the estimate that HPNW has created. Indeed, the estimate appears to be based on a false equivalency. HPNW reasons that the Department produced 15,000 pages in seven months, that the Department had 350,000 pages to review, and that therefore the Department will take another twelve years to produce the remaining 350,000 pages. This logic fails to acknowledge that records reviewed does not necessarily equate to records produced. And because they are not equivalent, HPNW's estimate is logically incorrect. Furthermore, it also fails to recognize that some records may take less time to review because they are not as sensitive. In other words, there are many variables that HPNW's own twelve-year estimate fails to take into account. Hence the reason that the Department has consistently maintained that it cannot come up with a meaningful estimate of when it will complete its response to HPNW's very large public records request. As the Court of Appeals concluded, it is not required to do so.

there is no language in the statute that requires that interpretation, and the Court of Appeals did not adopt that interpretation.

Similarly, HPNW's claims that review of an estimated date of completion provides the only meaningful way to ensure the agency is responding promptly are also unsupported. If a court can review each part of the agency's response as well as the reasonableness of the response as a whole—as the trial court did here—such a review seems to provide at least as much opportunity for courts to review the reasonableness of an agency's response. Indeed, if a requester is given only one date (a date of completion) at the outset, the requester has only one chance to challenge the agency's estimate. For some large requests, this estimate may be a significant period of time, and as HPNW appears to recognize, it is bound to be very speculative. If the requester files the challenge right away and the agency prevails, there is no further recourse for the requester. Under the Court of Appeals' interpretation, an agency faces a potential challenge throughout the process and this incentivizes the agency to continue to respondreasonably. Simply put, HPNW's argument that trial courts will no longer be able to review any timeframes beyond the first installment is simply incorrect and not an issue presented by this case. Therefore, HPNW has failed to show that its petition raises an issue of significant public interest and its petition should be denied.

B. The Court Should Grant Review to Reject the Court of Appeals'
Conclusion That An Agency Violates the PRA by Providing a
Requester a Reasonable Estimate of When It Will Provide
Further Response to a Request

The Court of Appeals erroneously concluded that an agency is required to provide an estimate of when it would produce records in order to meet the requirements of RCW 42.56.520(1)(c). This conclusion conflicts with this Court's decision in *Resident Action Council v. Seattle Housing Authority*, 177 Wn.2d 417, 432, 327 P.3d 600 (2013), and the plain language of RCW 42.56.520(1)(c). Moreover, the Court of Appeals' decision will create significant confusion for agencies because it does not provide clear, workable guidance about the manner in which agencies must respond in their five-day letters in order to comply with the PRA. As such, it presents an issue of significant public interest. This Court should grant review of this issue under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

1. The Court of Appeals Decision Conflicts with This Court's Prior Discussion of RCW 42.56.520(1)(c) and the Plain Statutory Language

RCW 42.56.520 identifies an agency's obligations to promptly respond to a public records request. Under the version of RCW 42.56.520 that was in effect at the time the Department received HPNW's request, an agency was required to respond within five business days by doing one of four things: 1) provide the requested records; 2) provide an internet address

and link to the agency's web site; 3) acknowledge the request and provide a reasonable estimate of time that the agency would require to respond to the request; or 4) deny the request. RCW 42.56.520 (2014).<sup>3</sup> Agencies are permitted additional time to respond to requests based upon the need to clarify the request, to locate and assemble records, to notify third parties affected by the request, or to determine whether any information is exempt. RCW 42.56.520(2).

When an agency receives a request that it cannot fulfill within five business days, RCW 42.56.520(1)(c) expressly permits agencies to take more time. But agencies must still acknowledge the request and provide a reasonable estimate of time required to respond. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that the word respond means to "say something in return: make an answer." Appendix A, Slip Op., at 17. Yet, the Court of Appeals went on to conclude this meant that an agency is required to estimate when it will provide records.